A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

D.K.U., petitioner here and appellant below, asks 

this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals 

decision terminating review under RAP 13.3 and RAP 

13.4. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

D.K.U. seeks review of the Court of Appeals 

decision dated March 4, 2022, affirming his sentence, 

attached as an appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Juvenile courts can order children to sentencing 

alternatives to treat and rehabilitate youth. Here, the 

juvenile court declined D.K.U.’s request for an 

alternative sentence based on factors related to his 

race. This decision contributed to racial disparities in 

youthful sentencing. Do the Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments and article I, sections 3 and 12 require a 
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juvenile court to clearly explain its reasons in declining 

to order a sentencing alternative? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

D.K.U., a Black child, pleaded guilty to second-

degree robbery when he was 16 years old. CP 6. He had 

very few resources and moved between two households, 

one in Federal Way and the other in Tacoma. RP 73. 

He did not have a working phone between his guilty 

plea and his adjudication. RP 72. Because of these 

barriers, D.K.U. struggled to engage in services offered 

on this charge and a prior disposition. 

D.K.U.’s plea and sentencing happened during 

the coronavirus pandemic, which closed schools and 

other community-based organizations to in-person 

attendance. D.K.U. found remote school very 

challenging. RP 73. He had technical issues, including 

a broken computer, which he had to go to Federal Way 
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to replace. Id. These challenges became “mentally 

insurmountable.” Id. 

Despite all the obstacles D.K.U. faced, he had 

made strides. RP 74. Although he did not complete a 

mental health evaluation before his first adjudication, 

he got it done at sentencing in this case. Id. His 

progress was slower than some might have hoped, but 

D.K.U. was “going in a better direction than he was 

before.” Id. 

Between his plea and sentence, D.K.U. was 

becoming more responsible. RP 76. He figured out how 

to get to court, including getting his aunt to give him 

and his mother a ride. Id. His housing in Tacoma had 

become more stable. RP 73. He found connections in 
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his community with Thrett Brown, who runs the Young 

Businessmen of Washington.1 RP 77. 

D.K.U. had also been working with Community 

Passageways,2 which could help D.K.U. engage in 

mental health treatment. RP 75. This program met the 

evidence-based or research-based requirement for an 

Option B sentence. Id.  

This progress was significant for D.K.U. because 

of the barriers his poverty created and his mistrust of 

the system. D.K.U.’s attorney explained this to the 

court, “I don’t think it -- that it’s, you know, any secret 

that the, you know, people of the Black community 

                                                           
1 Young Businessmen of Washington’s “goal is to 

find these sparks, engage and mentor them, so that 

urban youth can not only succeed themselves, but also 

share the path to success with their peers and 

community, by example and by becoming mentors 

themselves.” www.ybmw1080.org. 
2 Community Passageways works at “actively 

creating an alternative to today’s criminal legal 

system.” www.communitypassageways.org. 

http://www.ybmw1080.org/
http://www.communitypassageways.org/
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have a hard time trusting the Court, trusting services 

that are connected to the court.” RP 79. D.K.U.’s 

success with community-based programs demonstrated 

that when D.K.U. trusted the people he was working 

with, he was more likely to succeed. Id. 

Ten days before sentencing, D.K.U. was involved 

in a life-changing moment. He was shot during a drive-

by shooting. RP 81. After that traumatic experience, 

D.K.U. committed to services with renewed dedication, 

demonstrating “nearly like a 180-degree turnaround of 

[D.K.U.] in terms of his contact with everyone, with his 

engagement, with his realization that he is not doing 

things the way that he should be doing them.” RP 82. 

At sentencing, D.K.U. asked the court for help. 

RP 87. He ended his request for an Option B sentence, 

which would suspend his sentence and allow him to 

receive education and treatment, by telling the court, 
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“And like, I would really appreciate it if I get some 

help. That’s all I ask.” Id. 

The court tried to empathize with D.K.U. The 

court told D.K.U. it had relatives in prison, and while 

the judge could not understand what it meant to go to 

prison, he could understand its impact. RP 87. The 

court told D.K.U. how rare it was that the court 

sentenced a child to state imprisonment, having done it 

less than ten times in the past year. RP 90.  

Despite learning the importance of trust and 

community to D.K.U.’s progress and D.K.U.’s 

commitment to engaging in treatment, the court 

determined he was not amenable to an Option B 

sentence. CP 19, RP 91. The court did not address the 

role racial bias may have played in denying D.K.U. a 

community-based treatment sentence.   



7 

 

E. ARGUMENT 

The devaluation and degradation of Black lives is 

a persistent and systemic injustice of the criminal legal 

system. Washington Supreme Court, Open Letter 

Calling on Judicial, Legal Community to Work 

Together on Racial Justice (June 4, 2020);3 see also 

Garfield County Transp. Auth. v. State, 196 Wn.2d 378, 

390 n.1, 473 P.3d 1205 (2020). This Court asked those 

involved in the legal system to “develop a greater 

awareness of our own conscious and unconscious biases 

in order to make just decisions in individual cases” and 

“administer justice and support court rules in a way 

that brings greater racial justice to our system as a 

whole.” Id. 

                                                           
3www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supre

me%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Commu

nity%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf 

http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf
http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf
http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf
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In deciding D.K.U.’s case, the Court of Appeals 

acknowledged that “bias pervades the entire legal 

system and hence [minorities] do not trust the court 

system to resolve their disputes or administer justice 

evenhandedly.” App. 10 (quoting State v. Walker, 182 

Wn.2d 488 n.2, 341 P.3d 976 (2015) (Gordon McCloud, 

J. concurring)). The court also understood that “case 

law and history of racial discrimination provide ample 

support” to conclude a defendant’s race can influence 

their sentence. App. 10 (quoting State v. Gregory, 192 

Wn.2d 1, 22, 427 P.3d 621 (2018)). 

Sadly, racial disproportionality and disparity 

have long been characteristic of the juvenile legal 

system. Jessica Heldman & Hon. Geoffrey A. Gaither, 

An Examination of Racism and Racial Discrimination 

Impacting Dual Status Youth, 42 Child. Legal Rts. J. 

21, 21-22 (2021). In Washington, Black youth are four 
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times more likely than white youth to be sentenced to 

an institutional sentence. Barbara Robles-

Ramamurthy & Clarence Watson, Examining Racial 

Disparities in Juvenile Justice, J. Amer. Acad. 

Psychiatry Law 47, Vol. 7, Issue 1 (2019). Multiracial 

youth are three times more likely to go to state 

custody, and Latinx youth were almost one and a half 

times more likely. Id.  

In light of the overwhelming disproportionality in 

youthful sentencing, this Court should not look away 

from circumstances where trial courts perpetuate 

discriminatory practices. When the court refused to 

impose a community-based sentence for D.K.U., it 

continued Washington’s history of over-incarcerating 

youth of color, particularly Black children. To remedy 

this error, this Court should take review.  
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1. The criminal legal system does not treat 

children of color fairly. 

Before the establishment of the juvenile court 

system, reformers focused on “moral retraining” 

through institutional commitments designed to educate 

and reform children. Tamar R. Birckhead, The 

Racialization of Juvenile Justice and The Role of the 

Defense Attorney, 58 B.C. L. Rev. 379, 396 fn.62, 397 

(2017). 

Black children were excluded from these reforms. 

Many orphanages and reformatories refused to admit 

Black children. Birckhead, at 93. Instead, Black youth 

were sent to adult jails and prisons. James Bell & 

Laura John Ridolfi, W. Haywood Burns Inst., 

Adoration of the Question: Reflections on the Failure to 

Reduce Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Juvenile 

Justice System 4 (Shadi Rahimi ed., 2008). To meet the 

needs of “convict leasing,” Black youth were arrested in 
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large numbers. Id. Efforts to establish programming 

for Black children were met with the sentiment there 

was “no use trying to reform a Negro.” Id. 

Then, juvenile courts were created. Historical 

recitations suggest that these courts were intended to 

provide guidance and rehabilitation not afforded to 

children in the adult courts. Kristin Henning, The 

Challenge of Race and Crime in a Free Society: The 

Racial Divide in Fifty Years of Juvenile Justice Reform, 

86 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 1604, 1614-15 (2018).  

Modern scholars paint a more accurate picture of 

juvenile courts. The juvenile court served “as a vehicle 

through which to exercise social control over Black and 

immigrant youth.” Barry C. Feld & Perry L. Moriearty, 

Race, Rights, and the Representation of Children, 69 

Am. U. L. Rev. 743, 764 (2020). Juvenile courts were 

largely designed to facilitate the assimilation of 
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immigrant youth and the removal of Black youth from 

a society that feared them. Henning, at 1616. 

After the Supreme Court established procedural 

protections for youth, “tough on crime” policies ushered 

in a new approach to youth justice. Giudi Weiss, The 

Fourth Wave: Juvenile Justice Reforms for the Twenty-

First Century, Nat’l Campaign to Reform State Juv. 

Just. Sys. 11-12 (2013). Black youth were described as 

“super-predators,” which led states like Washington to 

create laws allowing juvenile courts to decline youth to 

adult court to stop the expected wave of adolescent 

violence. Josh Rovner, The Sent’g Project, How Tough 

on Crime Became Tough on Kids: Prosecuting Teenage 

Drug Charges in Adult Court 3 (2016).4  

                                                           
4 https://www.sentencingproject.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/12/How-Tough-on-Crime-

Became-Tough-on-Kids.pdf. 

https://www.sentencingproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/How-Tough-on-Crime-Became-Tough-on-Kids.pdf
https://www.sentencingproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/How-Tough-on-Crime-Became-Tough-on-Kids.pdf
https://www.sentencingproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/How-Tough-on-Crime-Became-Tough-on-Kids.pdf
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No such wave ever came. By 2000, youth crime 

rates returned to 1980 levels. Jeffrey Butts & Jeremy 

Travis, Urban Institute Justice Policy Center, The Rise 

and Fall of American Youth Violence: 1980 to 2000, 5 

(2002). Nevertheless, super-predator laws enacted in 

Washington and elsewhere remained in effect. 

Matthew Razo, Fair and Firm Sentencing for 

California’s Youth: Rethinking Penal Code Section 

190.5, 41 W. St. U. L. Rev. 429, 430 (2014). 

Racial bias continues to influence the decision-

making process of juvenile justice professionals. Feld & 

Moriearty, at 790; Birckhead, at 412. Police officers 

make decisions about arrests and use of force, 

probation officers write intakes, prosecutors make 

charging decisions, and judges preside over 

adjudication and disposition. Bias influences every step 

in this process. Birckhead at 420. 
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These biases exist in Washington. In Seattle, the 

most significant disparity in the use of force by police 

involves Black children. Center for Policing Equity, 

The Science of Justice: Seattle Police Department 

National Justice Database City Report, 20 (January 

2021).5 Of 44 incidents from 2014 to 2019 in which 

police used force against children under 14 years old, 

23 cases involved Black children. Id. Likewise, Black 

people were involved in 59 percent of incidents where 

force was used against young people aged 15 to 21 -- 

332 of 563 incidents of force over five years. Id. 

Racial bias also exists in how children are treated 

in schools and how the criminal system impacts their 

families. Black students are more likely to attend 

schools with zero-tolerance policies and law 

                                                           
5https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/2101

5602-spd_cityreport_final_11121-1 

https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/21015602-spd_cityreport_final_11121-1
https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/21015602-spd_cityreport_final_11121-1
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enforcement presence, increasing the risk of 

suspension, expulsion, and arrest. Robles-Ramamurthy 

& Watson, at 4. Children of color are also more likely to 

be separated from their families. Id. 

There are also ample reasons why black youth 

like D.K.U. are slow to trust the governmental and 

rehabilitative services. RP 79. Like the legal system, 

the “medical establishment has a long history of 

mistreating Black Americans -- from gruesome 

experiments on enslaved people to the forced 

sterilizations of Black women and the infamous 

Tuskegee syphilis study that withheld treatment from 

hundreds of Black men for decades to let doctors track 

the course of the disease.” Martha Hostetter & Sarah 

Klein, Transforming Care: Understanding and 

Ameliorating Medical Mistrust Among Black 
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Americans, Commonwealth Fund (Jan. 14, 2021).6 

Modern gynecology started by forcing Black slave 

women into surgery without their consent or even 

anesthesia. Durrenda Ojanuga, The Medical Ethics of 

the ‘Father of Gynecology,’ Dr. J. Marion Sims, 19 J 

Med Ethics 28, 29 (1993). Likewise, much modern 

medical research is based on cells taken from Henrietta 

Lacks, a Black woman, without her consent or 

compensation. Matiangai Sirleaf, Disposable Lives: 

Covid-19, Vaccines, and the Uprising, 121 Colum. L. 

Rev. F. 71, 80 (2021). 

False beliefs in the medical field have led doctors 

to under-treat pain in Black people because they 

wrongly believe Black people have thicker skin and 

fewer nerve endings. Kelly Hoffman, et al., Racial Bias 

                                                           
6https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications

/newsletter-article/2021/jan/medical-mistrust-among-

black-americans 

https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletter-article/2021/jan/medical-mistrust-among-black-americans
https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletter-article/2021/jan/medical-mistrust-among-black-americans
https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletter-article/2021/jan/medical-mistrust-among-black-americans
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in Pain Assessment and Treatment Recommendations, 

and False Beliefs about Biological Differences between 

Blacks and Whites, 113 Proceedings Nat’l Acad. Sci., 

4296, 4297 (2016).7 Doctors also over-diagnose Black 

people with schizophrenia when they should instead be 

finding a depressive disorder. Michael Gara, A 

Naturalistic Study of Racial Disparities in Diagnoses 

at an Outpatient Behavioral Health Clinic, 70 

Psychiatric Services (2019).8 These reasons for distrust 

have led to vaccine hesitancy for the coronavirus and a 

death rate from the virus that is 1.4 times higher than 

for white people. The COVID Racial Data Tracker, 

COVID Tracking Project at the Atlantic (viewed May 2, 

2022).9  

                                                           
7https://www.pnas.org/doi/epdf/10.1073/pnas.1516

047113 
8https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/10.1176/appi.p

s.201800223 
9https://covidtracking.com/race 

https://www.pnas.org/doi/epdf/10.1073/pnas.1516047113
https://www.pnas.org/doi/epdf/10.1073/pnas.1516047113
https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/10.1176/appi.ps.201800223
https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/10.1176/appi.ps.201800223
https://covidtracking.com/race
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These same beliefs extend to the legal system, 

which views youth of color differently. Judicial officials 

are more likely to see a white child as less threatening 

and more amenable to treatment. Heather D. Evans & 

Steven Herbert, Juveniles Sentenced as Adults in 

Washington State, 2009-2019, University of 

Washington, 5 (June 14, 2021).10 Youth of color, by 

contrast, are commonly seen as products of broken 

families, more adult-like, and thus more culpable for 

crime, more threatening, and less amenable to 

rehabilitation. Id.; see also State v. B.O.J., 194 Wn.2d 

314, 332, 449 P.3d 1006 (2019) (González, J. 

concurring). 

These observations are not merely theoretical. 

For children aged six to 17, white children are 

                                                           
10 https://www.opd.wa.gov/documents/00866-

2021_AOCreport.pdf 

https://www.opd.wa.gov/documents/00866-2021_AOCreport.pdf
https://www.opd.wa.gov/documents/00866-2021_AOCreport.pdf
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underrepresented among juvenile convictions in 

Washington, while Black and Latino children are 

overrepresented. Evans & Herbert, at 11. The chart 

below shows the disparity. 

 

These statistics are stark. Latino children are 1.8 

times more likely to be convicted of a crime than white 

children, while Indigenous children are 2.6 times more 

likely. Evans & Herbert, at 12. Black children are 

convicted 4.8 times more often than white children 

when compared to their community population. Id. 
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King County is not immune from the disease of 

racism. While King County continues to see reduced 

numbers of incarcerated youth, the racial disparity of 

those children left in jails and prisons continues to rise. 

King County Government, Zero Youth Detention Data 

Dashboard, Leading with Race Equity (Updated 

December 20, 2021).11 In 2002, youth of color were 2.4 

times more likely to be incarcerated than white youth. 

Id. The relative numbers skyrocketed to 6.7 times in 

2019, only dropping during the pandemic to 3.8, 

although still nearly twice what the disparity was in 

2002. Id. The chart below from King County bears out 

this continuing problem. 

                                                           
11 https://kingcounty.gov/depts/health/zero-youth-

detention/dashboard.aspx 

https://kingcounty.gov/depts/health/zero-youth-detention/dashboard.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/health/zero-youth-detention/dashboard.aspx
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King County, Zero Youth Detention. 

The Court of Appeals also acknowledged that 

racial disparity might impact juvenile decline. App. 8. 

(citing State v. Quijas, 12 Wn. App. 2d 363, 375, 457 

P.3d 1241 (2020)). Studies conducted since Quijas 

confirm this supposition. Black children are 11.4 times 

more likely to be declined to adult court at a 

discretionary decline hearing. Evans & Herbert, at 32. 

For automatic decline, the numbers are worse. Black 

children are convicted as adults through auto decline 
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hearings at a rate 25.8 times higher than the rate of 

white children. Id. at 20. 

The view that children of color are more culpable 

is even more troubling because of modern 

understandings of juvenile brain development. See, 

e.g., State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 19 n. 4, 

391 P.3d 409 (2017). The delay in the full development 

of self-reasoning and self-control is especially relevant 

for youth exposed to trauma, which is especially 

common among youth of color. Erica Adams, Healing 

Invisible Wounds: Why Investing In Trauma-Informed 

Care For Children Makes Sense, Justice Policy 

Institute (2010).12 It is also particularly concerning 

that youth of color are treated more harshly because 90 

percent of youth involved in the legal system, 

                                                           
12 https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-

library/abstracts/healing-invisible-wounds-why-

investing-trauma-informed-care 

https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/healing-invisible-wounds-why-investing-trauma-informed-care
https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/healing-invisible-wounds-why-investing-trauma-informed-care
https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/healing-invisible-wounds-why-investing-trauma-informed-care
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regardless of race, no longer commit crimes by their 

mid-twenties. Elizabeth Scott & Laurence Steinberg, 

Rethinking Juvenile Justice, 52-53 (2008). 

2. Failing to account for racial bias at D.K.U.’s 

sentencing violated his right to equal 

protection and due process. 

While the Court of Appeals did not discount the 

inherent disparity in the juvenile legal system, it 

provided no remedy for race’s disproportionate effect on

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