FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/20/2022 4:21 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1009054

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D.K.U.,

Petitioner.

STATE'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Treated as an Answer to Petition for Review

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 5, 2020, Lyubomirl Gural arranged to sell his phone over the Internet. CP 3-5. The buyer, who identified himself as "Chris Montay," agreed to meet at Gural's home to complete the sale. <u>Id.</u> When Gural walked outside to meet the buyer, however, he was ambushed by four Black males. <u>Id.</u>
One, later identified as D.K.U., was armed with a pistol. <u>Id.</u>
D.K.U. demanded Gural surrender "everything you got." Id.

When D.K.U. was momentarily distracted, Gural tried to grab the gun. <u>Id.</u> After a brief struggle, D.K.U. pistol-whipped Gural, causing a three-inch laceration on his forehead. <u>Id.</u> All four assailants then ran away. <u>Id.</u> As they fled, D.K.U. accidentally dropped his own cell phone. <u>Id.</u> The phone

connected D.K.U. to the robbery, and Gural later identified D.K.U. as the gunman in a photographic montage. <u>Id.</u>

The State charged D.K.U. with one count of first-degree robbery. CP 1. At arraignment, the prosecutor asked the court to place D.K.U. on electronic home detention. RP 8. The court instead released D.K.U. on personal recognizance, but imposed several conditions of release: (1) that D.K.U. maintain contact with his attorney and probation counselor; (2) that he appear for all court dates; (3) that he have no contact with the alleged victim; (4) that he commit no new criminal law violations; (5) that he regularly attend school; (6) that he not use alcohol or non-prescribed drugs; (7) that he not possess any weapons; and (8) that he reside in a location approved of by a parent or guardian. RP 15-18.

D.K.U. eventually pled guilty to an amended charge of second-degree robbery. CP 6, 15. As part of the plea colloquy, D.K.U. acknowledged that the State would recommend a

standard range term of 15-36 weeks, but that his attorney could request an "Option B" alternative sentence. CP 11; RP 38.¹

After D.K.U. pled guilty, the court granted defense counsel's motion to continue the disposition hearing over the prosecutor's objection. RP 49-53, 65. D.K.U. then failed to appear at the next scheduled hearing, but the court declined the prosecutor's request for a bench warrant. Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 23).

At sentencing, the prosecutor recounted the serious facts of the offense, which included an assault at gunpoint, and noted that D.K.U.'s prior robbery conviction had also targeted a stranger. RP 65-66. The prosecutor further observed that

¹ "Option B" is a "suspended disposition alternative." RCW 13.40.0357. It allows the court to suspend the standard range term pending completion of "local sanctions and...educational or treatment requirements." <u>Id.</u> The "Option B" can be revoked, and the suspended sentence imposed, if the defendant "fails to comply with the suspended disposition." <u>Id.</u>

D.K.U. had "fail[ed] to engage in...treatment" despite extensive efforts:

...our hope was that the respondent would really work to put together a treatment plan and engage in a treatment plan so that we could be confident that he would get the services he needed in the community.

Unfortunately, that just has not really happened. He is not in school. [D.U.'s probation counselor] has written a very extensive report on all of the attempts that she has made to set up mental health, to get respondent engaged in school, and that hasn't happened.

RP 65-67. The State reiterated its recommendation for a standard-range sentence. RP 67.

D.K.U.'s juvenile probation counselor was "[u]nable to support option B" because D.K.U. was "taking...very little responsibility for the incident," had largely failed to cooperate with service providers, and continued to engage in "high-risk behavior." RP 67-70. D.K.U. had never enrolled in school, and the probation department did not even know where he was living. RP 69-70. Despite months of effort, D.K.U. "ha[d] not

started...any kind of...program[s] that Community
Passageways has to offer."² RP 70.

Defense counsel explained that D.K.U. was "very difficult to get ahold of" because he had not had a phone "for a while." RP 72-73. She stated that D.K.U. had not been attending school because he was "bouncing around" between homes in Tacoma and Federal Way. RP 72-73. Counsel claimed D.K.U. was planning to enroll in school the following week. RP 73-74.

Defense counsel further asserted that D.K.U.'s mentor was "trying to build rapport with him...to kind of spur engagement in everything that Community Passageways has to offer." RP 72. As further evidence of D.K.U.'s "growth [and] momentum," counsel noted he had recently undergone a mental

² Community Passageways is a non-profit organization that mentors at-risk youth and connects them with support services. https://www.communitypassageways.org/mission.

health assessment, despite having declined to do so earlier, and that he had appeared for that day's court hearing. RP 74-76.

Finally, defense counsel stated that D.K.U. had connected with "Young Businessmen of Washington," a mentoring organization run by Thrett Brown. RP 77. But D.K.U. had done nothing more than have "some phone conversations" with Brown. Brown had never met with D.K.U. in-person, was not present at the disposition hearing, and provided no written materials. RP 77-79, 90.

Defense counsel also conceded that:

...[w]e hope always that kids will be like, Yes, I want all these services. Let me get involved. Let me...go forward. But it's just not always the case. And this is a kid where that just hasn't been the case...there's been bumps. It's taken us a while to get here.

. . .

...his engagement has not been nearly what we would hope for, but he has engaged, at least on some things at some points.

RP 75, 83.

The court expressed its concerns in a dialogue with defense counsel. RP 80. It noted that D.K.U. "has had chances before"; in fact, D.K.U. was already under supervision for a previous robbery conviction when he committed the instant offense. RP 7-8, 80. Counsel responded that "kids need...as many chances as we can offer them." RP 84.

The court was skeptical since D.K.U. had only become amenable to services "in the last week," and that despite various organizations having spent months "trying to build community bridges...a lot of this is just starting." RP 80-83. The court noted it had "no real proof of amenability other than the statements made here today. I don't even have a treatment plan...they say they haven't spoken much." RP 90.

The court determined that "the best, safest route" for D.K.U. was a term at the Juvenile Rehabilitation Administration (JRA), where he would "get a few months just to focus on [himself]." RP 91. The court imposed a standard-

range term of 15-36 weeks.³ CP 19. The Court of Appeals affirmed D.K.U.'s sentence in an unpublished opinion. <u>D.K.U.</u>, No. 82663-8.

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY D.K.U.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

RAP 13.4 governs review by the Washington Supreme

Court "of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review..." It

states in relevant part that "[a] petition for review will be

accepted by the Supreme Court only":

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

³ D.K.U. repeatedly refers to this as a "prison sentence." Pet. for Rev. at 24-25, 29. However, respondents sentenced in juvenile court are housed in secure residential facilities, not prisons run by the Department of Corrections. This difference is not merely rhetorical. Juveniles sent to the maximum-security juvenile facility at Green Hill are each assigned a counselor who works with that individual "to assess their needs and provide appropriate treatment." https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/services/juvenile-rehabilitation/residential-facilities/green-hill. The facility provides opportunities for "educational and vocational training," mentoring, and cultural programming. https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/services/juvenile-rehabilitation/residential-facilities/green-hill. The facility provides opportunities for "educational and vocational training," mentoring, and cultural programming. <a href="https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/services/juvenile-rehabilitation/residential-facilities/green-hill. While juvenile detainees are in custody, their experience is fundamentally different than adult prison inmates, and this was an explicit part of the trial court's reasoning.

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b); RAP 13.5A.

D.K.U. does not specify which subsection of RAP 13.4(b) he is relying on. Pet. for Rev. at 1, 35. The State assumes that review is sought under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. THIS CASE PRESENTS A POOR VEHICLE TO ADDRESS THESE ISSUES BECAUSE D.K.U. RELIES ON EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT PRESENTED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

A trial court's decision whether to impose an alternative sentence is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>See</u>

<u>State v. Sims</u>, 171 Wn.2d 436, 445, 256 P.3d 285 (2011)

(granting SSOSA "entirely at a trial court's discretion").

D.K.U. relies heavily on academic authorities presented for the first time on appeal to assert "that Washington disproportionately sentences youth of color to harsher sentences." Pet. for Rev. at 9-22, 29. But when a trial court exercises discretion, its actions must be reviewed based on the information it possessed at the time it ruled. See State v.

Bluford, 188 Wn.2d 298, 310, 393 P.3d 1219 (2017) (in context of joinder: "we review only the facts known to the trial judge at the time...[a]fter all, a judge cannot abuse his or her discretion based on facts that do not yet exist").

This case is a poor vehicle for D.K.U.'s constitutional argument since none of the information he wishes this Court to consider was presented at sentencing. As the Court of Appeals observed:

No one discussed D.K.U.'s race beyond defense counsel's passing reference to "people of the Black community hav[ing] a hard time trust the court, [and] trusting services that are connected to the court," which defense counsel mentioned to explain D.K.U.'s lack of engagement with service providers. Defense counsel did not argue D.K.U.'s experiences as a Black youth caused

him to mistrust court services, nor did she argue D.K.U.'s race impacted the court's sentencing decision.

D.K.U., No. 82663-8 at 3-4.

Because of this failure, both the trial court and the prosecutor were deprived of any opportunity to address this issue and develop a proper factual record.

D.K.U. relies heavily on <u>State v. Quijas</u>, 12 Wn. App. 2d 363, 457 P.3d 1241 (2020), to support his argument. The issue in <u>Quijas</u> was "whether the juvenile court was required to rule on [his] claim that the declination process was tainted by racial prejudice." <u>Id.</u> at 373. The error in <u>Quijas</u> was not that the trial court failed to consider its own potential biases *sua sponte*, but that it refused to address an argument that Quijas had properly raised and supported with meaningful evidence. Id.

Although Quijas may require an investigation on the record in some cases, this duty arises only "once a claim of racial bias is raised." Id. at 374 (emphasis added). Unlike Quijas, D.K.U. made no allegations of racial bias at sentencing,

nor did he provide the court with any evidence that minority respondents are disproportionately denied Option B sentences.

RP 84. Because the sentencing court in this case did not "ignore the evidence or the claim" of racial basis, Quijas is inapplicable.

Quijas, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 375.

The trial court could not have abused its discretion by failing to credit information that D.K.U. never presented.

Additionally, this Court typically does not address arguments "[i]f the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (discussing RAP 2.5). D.K.U.'s petition should be denied.

2. D.K.U.'S ARGUMENT MISCHARACTERIZES THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

A trial court abuses its discretion *per se* if a sentencing decision is based on an "impermissible factor" such as race.

State v. Williams, 199 Wn. App. 99, 112, 398 P.3d 1150

(2017). Presumably recognizing this as his only avenue for

relief, D.K.U.'s petition has attempted to unfairly characterize the trial court's thoughtful ruling.

D.K.U. has omitted several material facts that were considered by the trial court and are detrimental to his argument:

- D.K.U.'s petition omits the facts of the crime, which involved the robbery of a stranger at gunpoint during which D.K.U. pistol-whipped the victim. RP 65-66; CP 3-5.
- D.K.U. neglects to mention that he was on probation for a similar robbery when he committed the instant offense. RP 7-8, 65-66.
- D.K.U. cites his engagement with "Young Businessmen of Washington," but in actuality he had done nothing more than have "some phone conversations" with the owner. Pet. for Rev. at 3-4; RP 77-79, 90.
- D.K.U. highlights his belated connection with community services. Pet. for Rev. at 4. However, despite being given months to engage with these programs and prepare for sentencing, D.K.U. had not completed a treatment plan "of any kind," "ha[d] not started…any kind of…program[s]," and the provider stated that "they haven't spoken much." RP 70, 90.
- D.K.U. never enrolled in school despite it being a longstanding condition of release. RP 17. While his petition identifies some of the structural barriers he faced,

D.K.U. omits that his probation counselor submitted "a very extensive report on all of the attempts that she has made...to get respondent engaged in school..." RP 65-67.

In short, D.K.U. committed violent offenses, had shown little interest in complying with court orders or services, and continued to engage in "high-risk behavior." RP 67

It has long been the law in Washington that "[a] judge is not presumed to be biased, and one alleging bias bears the burden of making an 'affirmative showing' to that effect."

Ritter v. Board of Com'rs of Adams County Public Hospital

Dist. No. 1, 96 Wn.2d 503, 513, 637 P.2d 940 (1981) (internal citation omitted); Rich v. Starczewski, 29 Wn. App. 244, 246, 628 P.2d 831 (1981) ("Bias or prejudice on the part of a judge is never presumed and must be affirmatively shown by the party asserting it."). While D.K.U. offers a conclusory assertion that "[t]he [sentencing] court's decision was based on race," he presented no evidence or argument of bias at sentencing. Pet. for Rev. at 26.

It appears that D.K.U. has implied racial bias primarily from the fact that the trial court did not find his eleventh-hour mitigation persuasive, evidence that even his attorney acknowledged "has not been nearly what we would hope for." RP 83.

D.K.U. asks this Court to address whether the constitution "require[s] a juvenile court to clearly explain its reasons in declining to order a sentencing alternative." Pet. for Rev. at 2. But while the court did not expressly consider racial disproportionality, it certainly did not impose a term at JRA lightly – "the court provided a detailed explanation for its decision that was grounded in the sentencing statute and did not rely on proxies for race." <u>D.K.U.</u>, No. 82663-8 at 13.

D.K.U. accuses the trial court of carelessly imposing incarceration despite understanding "the effect prison would have on [him]." Pet. for Rev. at 25. But, as the trial court explained, it did not impose a custodial sentence to be maximally punitive, but because it thought JRA provided the

best chance for him to engage with services and achieve rehabilitation. RP 90-91.

The Court of Appeals saw "no indicia of implicit racial bias in the trial court's thoughtful explanation of its decision."

D.K.U., No. 82663-8 at 14. D.K.U. speculates that he "might have been viewed differently had he been white," but offers no case-specific evidence to support this assertion. Pet. for Rev. at 25. While this country's history of racial bias is undeniable, Pet for. Rev. at 10-18, it is neither fair nor credible to draw a linear line between this shameful past and the trial judge's carefully reasoned decision in this case.

D.K.U.'s allegation of prejudice relies entirely on statistical evidence presented for the first time on appeal along with a distorted version of the facts. Review is therefore inappropriate.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State respectfully requests that D.K.U.'s petition for review be denied.

This document contains 2,661 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 20 day of May, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

GAVRIEL JACOBS, WSBA #46394 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

May 20, 2022 - 4:21 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 100,905-4

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